1989

Virginia Yearsley v. Officer Dean Jensen, Et Al. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

This was an action sounding in tort which alleged assault, battery, malicious prosecution and false imprisonment that was originally filed by the Plaintiff as an action against three (3) police officers from three (3) different jurisdictions, that happened at the Plaintiff's home on the late evening hours of August 28, 1983 and continued into the early morning hours of August 29, 1983.

DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

Following the filing of a Notice of Readiness of Trial, after discovery had been completed and immediately prior to a Trial which had been set, Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss on the basis of violation of the statute of limitations.

In a hearing on September 14, 1987, Plaintiff's claims against the Defendant Cities were dismissed by Stipulation and

the Court agreed to consider at a later hearing, Plaintiff's request to amend her Complaint to include claims for false imprisonment and malicious prosecution which would defeat Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment as against the Officers on the basis of a statute of limitation violation.

A proposed Amended Complaint was prepared alleging both false imprisonment and malicious prosecution claims and alleging that those claims arose from a continuous act, beginning on August 28, 1983 continuing through August 29, 1983 and thereafter. (See Record on Appeal, Plaintiff's Proposed Amended Complaint)

At the subsequent hearing on November 2, 1987, the Motion to Amend the Complaint was denied and the Defendants were granted Summary Judgment against the Plaintiff on the basis that the claim against the police officers, pursuant to Rule 63-30-13, which had been filed on August 29, 1984 were not timely filed.

An appeal was taken to the Utah Supreme Court which transferred the matter to the Utah Court of Appeals. Following the presentation of Briefs and Oral Argument, the Utah Court of Appeals, on March 30, 1989, entered an Order of Affirmance in a two-to-one hearing, a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix "1". Justices Jackson and Greenwood merely affirmed the Judgment of the Trial Court on the basis that the Notice of Claim made against the Defendants was not timely filed. Justice Newey dissented and argued that the Trial Court should have allowed the Complaint to be amended to include claims of false imprisonment

and malicious prosecution and that the Court abused its discretion in rejecting such Complaint.

A request to file an extension for a Writ of Certiorari was filed and granted on April 27, 1989 and the Certiorari Petition was filed on May 26, 1989 and this Court granted the Petition and the Record on Appeal was filed on September 8, 1989.

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court pursuant to Rule 43 of the Supreme Court Rules, State of Utah, in that a decision of the Court of Appeals in this case has rendered a decision that has so departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings or has so far sanctioned such a departure by a lower Court as to call for an exercise of this Court's power of supervision.

That this Court can, by the granting of a Petition of Certiorari, review said decision. Said Petition for Certiorari having been granted, the Court now has jurisdiction to consider the case on its merits.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES SOUGHT TO BE REVIEWED

1. Whether the Trial Court abused its discretion in not granting Plaintiff's request to amend her Complaint prior to Trial to defeat the Defendants' statute of limitation argument, pursuant to Rule 15 of the Utah Ruled of Civil Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

(The following fact statement is taken from the pleadings in the case, including Plaintiff's Affidavit and Memorandum

supplied at the time of the Summary Judgment Hearing. There has been no evidentiary hearing in the case and therefore, citations will not be to a transcript, but to various documents in the Record on Appeal. The facts set forth below however, are based upon the allegations contained in those pleadings.)

In the late evening hours of August 28, 1983 at approximately 10:30 p.m., Plaintiff, along with other friends was returning to her home in Washington Terrace, Weber County, Utah, from a boating excursion at Pineview Reservoir, East of Ogden.

At that time, Plaintiff was a passenger of a motorhome, driven by her boyfriend, Jerry Wells. The motorhome was owned by, and registered to, him.

That upon entering Washington Terrace City, a Washington Terrace police officer pulled behind the motorhome as it stopped and parked in front of the Plaintiff's home. Plaintiff exited the motorhome and entered her home.

Shortly thereafter, the officers began to arrest both Jerry Wells and Charlie Schultz, for driving while intoxicated and public intoxication. The Washington Terrace officer apparently called for assistance from officers from South Ogden City and Riverdale City.

The named officers in the Complaint then entered the Plaintiff's home, without knocking and without any authorization and requested that she move the motorhome. After informing the officers that the motorhome did not belong to her, a verbal

argument ensued, at which time the Plaintiff refused to move the motorhome or leave her house. The officers drug her from her home to the porch and onto the driveway area where she was physically beaten and abused.

At this time, Plaintiff was not arrested, but was then transported by the officers to McKay Dee Hospital approximately ten (10) miles away. Plaintiff was not released from McKay Dee Hospital until 1:00 a.m. on the morning of August 29, 1983. Following her release, she was then arrested, handcuffed and placed into a patrol car and taken to the Weber County Jail in Ogden where she was booked at approximately 1:30 a.m. on a number of charges including resisting arrest, interfering with an officer and disturbing the peace. Plaintiff remained incarcerated in the Weber County Jail until she was able to arrange bail at approximately 8:00 a.m. on August 29, 1983.

The officers then contacted the Washington Terrace City Attorney who caused Informations to be filed on Misdemeanor Counts for the above referenced charges.

The Plaintiff initially plead not guilty to all charges and some two (2) months later, all charges, but one, was dismissed through a plea bargain. The only charge to which Plaintiff plead guilty was disorderly conduct and there was no agreement on the part of the Plaintiff that she would not take legal action against the City, the various police agencies or the officers involved. Nor was there any factual determination by the Court that the charge of Disorderly Conduct justified any of

the officers' action.

The Plaintiff initially filed her Notice of Claim against all the Cities and named officers in this case on August 29, 1984. Plaintiff contended that none of the parties had specifically responded, either affirmatively or negatively, to the Notice of Claim and the lawsuit was initiated on November 27, 1985. Answers were filed on behalf of the three (3) named officers and the Cities and the matter proceeded to Trial.

Discovery ensued and Interrogatories were submitted which were answered by the Plaintiff and numerous settlement discussions were entertained, but none came to fruition for a period of almost two (2) years. At this time, Plaintiff filed a Notice of Readiness of Trial. No objection to the Trial was raised, nor were any Motions made following discovery.

Approximately three (3) weeks before the Trial, the Defendants, for the first time, filed Motions for Summary Judgment claiming that the statute of limitations had been violated. The basis of the claim was that the gravamen of the lawsuit was the actual assault on Plaintiff by Defendants which occurred at approximately 11:00 p.m. on August 28th and therefore, the Notice of Claim was one (1) day late.

Plaintiff took the position at the initial hearing on September 14, 1987 that she considered the incident as one (1) continuous tort beginning in the late evening hours and continuing until the Plaintiff's release from jail at 8:00 on the morning of the 29th.

Plaintiff further requested that she be allowed to amend her Complaint to conform to the facts, including the offenses of false imprisonment and malicious prosecution which clearly took place on August 29th and subsequent thereto.

The Court took this matter under advisement and allowed the Plaintiff to prepare and Amended Complaint. Plaintiff then filed an Amended Complaint and at that time, the Judge after reviewing the Plaintiff's Amended Complaint refused to accept it, claiming that it changed the basis of the lawsuit and further found that the conduct, although beginning on August 28th and continued to August 29th was not of such continuous tortious nature that it could be brought into the suit and considered a single act.

Therefore, the Court determined that the matters raised in the initial Complaint were completed on August 28, 1983 and therefore, the claim was outside the statute and Summary Judgment was granted.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court Judge erred in refusing to allow the Plaintiff to amend her Complaint prior to the Trial to conform to the facts to include a malicious prosecution and false imprisonment, which claims were either part of a continuous tortuous act or took place on August 29, 1983 or beyond, which would have brought them within the one (1) year Notice of Claim filing.

Rule 15 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure allows the

amendment of a Complaint prior to Trial to conform to the evidence by leave of Court and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires.

In this case justice required the amendment of the pleading to allow Plaintiff's legitimate claims against three (3) police officers to be heard in a full evidentiary hearing.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN UPHOLDING THE DECISION OF THE TRIAL COURT, IN THAT THE MAJORITY FAILED TO ADDRESS THE KEY ISSUE RAISED IN THE APPEAL, WHICH WAS THE FAILURE OF THE COURT TO ALLOW THE AMENDMENT TO PLEADINGS WHICH WOULD HAVE BROUGHT THE ACTION WITHIN THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS PERIOD ON THE BASIS THAT SUCH A DECISION DEPARTS FROM THE ACCEPTED AND USUAL COURSE OF JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS

This is a case in which the Plaintiff is being denied access to the Courts for a redress of grievance on the basis of a very strict view of both the construction of pleadings and a definition of tortious conduct by a Trial Court Judge.

It was unrefuted in this case and in any of the prior pleadings, documents, or memoranda that was presented to the Trial Judge that the Defendant police officers began a course of conduct in the late evening hours of August 28, 1983 which also continued into the early morning hours of August 29, 1983. That conduct consisted of dragging the Plaintiff from her home and beating her at approximately 10:30 p.m. on August 28, 1983, then transporting her to the McKay Dee Hospital to be treated for her injuries, removing her from the McKay Dee Hospital at approximately 1:00 a.m. on August 29, 1983, placing her under

arrest, taking her to the Weber County Jail and booking her in the jail at approximately 1:30 a.m. August 29, 1983. Plaintiff was released from the jail at approximately 8:30 a.m. on August 29, 1983 and then was charged with various misdemeanor offenses which resulted in Court action thereafter.

There is also no question that the police officers set in motion a sequence of events, that while they began on August 28, 1983, extended far beyond that time, if they are viewed as a continuous act. A Notice of Claim filed in this case on August 29, 1984 and for any acts that took place on August 29, 1984 or thereafter, or any acts which began on August 28, 1983 and by their nature, continued beyond that date would be timely and any statute of limitations argument that was raised in this case would be moot.

The entire focus therefore, before the Trial Court in two (2) separate hearings approximately three (3) weeks prior to Trial was whether the specific allegations of Plaintiff's original Complaint (the assault and battery) which clearly took place on the 28th could extend, by the virtue of the other actions taken by those same officers as a single tortious act to the 29th, or whether the Plaintiff should simply be allowed amend the Complaint to allege the other specific acts which naturally flowed from the officers original conduct and which obviously took place on August 29, 1983.

The Court was asked to consider both propositions and denied Plaintiff her day in Court under either theory. The first

proposition, that of a continuous tortious act, has been addressed in at least two (2) other jurisdictions in the case of Shores v. Branch, 720 P.2d 239 (1986) a Montana case and the case of Baker v. Burbank, 705 P.2d 866 (1985) Cert. denied 475 US 1017 (1986) a California case.

While it is true and Defendants have constantly raised this issue, both in the Trial Court and in the Appellate Court, that these cases were civil cases and dealt with nuisance and easements, the language of the Court in both cases is compelling when applied to what happened here.

In the Shores case, the Court held that,

"continuing torts are those torts in which the tortious act can be readily abated." (Id at 243)

In this case, if the officers conduct is viewed as a continuing series of actions, each of which may be somewhat different, but results in an ongoing course of conduct, it is clear that at any time it could have been readily abated. The officers, following the altercation at the home, could have left and stopped any further contact with the Plaintiff, or following her release from the hospital, the officers could have simply issued her a citation and let her return to her home. This action would have abated their prior conduct.

However, they chose not to do this, but continued their conduct by taking the Plaintiff to the Weber County Jail and booking her. Even after Plaintiff was booked and released, the officers could have dismissed the case or not filed the case through the City Attorney and conclude the matter at that point.

They chose not to do this, but continued the conduct in causing charges to be filed and causing the Plaintiff to be prosecuted. Any of these acts therefore, could have been abated at any time and were one continuing course of conduct. Thus, the conduct clearly fits within the Shores definition.

The Court in Baker said,

"The classic example of a continuing nuisance (tort), is an ongoing or repeated disturbance."
(Id at 870)

The actions here were clearly ongoing and repeated. We begin on August 28, 1983 with the officers entering the Plaintiff's home. They continued by taking her from her home, then committing an assault, taking her to a hospital, then transporting her to a jail, having her incarcerated and then prosecuting her. An ongoing repeated series of events, although criminal rather than civil in nature, clearly fitting within the continuous tort concept.

In essence, what actually happened on August 28-29, 1983, is a continual sequence of activities, each of which was tortious and each of which, when combined with the other, constituted an overall violation of this Plaintiff's fundamental rights as a human being.

To suggest that because one of the acts happened on August 28th and that therefore, the Court should ignore whatever happened on August 29th, to deprive this Plaintiff from access to a full evidentiary hearing, is ludicrous and should not have been condoned by the Court of Appeals and certainly should not be

sanctioned by this Court.

It is interesting that in the Trial Court's decision, it gave no specific reason for not adopting the continual tort view, but simply denied the approach. It is also interesting that the Court of Appeals did not address this issue, but simply stated that the Notice of Claim was not timely filed.

What is even more compelling however, is the Court's failure to allow Plaintiff to amend her Complaint to allege specific incidents of tortious conduct that clearly happened on August 29th, particularly, the false imprisonment and malicious prosecution claims.

Rule 15 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure reads as follows:

"A party may amend his pleading once as a matter of course at any time before a responsive pleading is served, or if the pleading is one to which no responsive pleading is permitted and action has not been placed upon the Trial calendar, he may so amend it in time within twenty (20) days after it is served. Otherwise a party may amend his pleading only by leave of Court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires." (Emphasis added)

This Court has continuously held that amendments to pleadings, even during the Trial of the case should be allowed in order to afford all parties an opportunity to be heard on the merits and secure an appropriate remedy.

The Court is directed to its own case of Girard v. Appleby, 660 P.2d 245 (1983 Utah) that was rendered even before the most recent amendments to the Rules of Civil

Procedure in which this Court specifically took the position that Trial Courts should be extremely lenient and liberal in allowing amendments to pleadings, unless they would do violence to the process or unduly prejudice one party or another.

The recent revision of Rule 15 as set forth above even more clearly delineates this broad public policy consideration.

In this case, there was no prejudice to the Defendants as they had been aware for some two (2) years prior to the Motion to Amend of the totality of the circumstances surrounding the arrest of the Plaintiff and in fact, the record is completely void of any claim by the Defendants of surprise or prejudice that would have arisen had the Court granted the Motion. They never raised this in their pleadings at the lower Court and did not address it in their Brief to the Court of Appeals.

It is also clear, contrary to the Defendants position in their Brief in Opposition to Appellant's Petition for a Writ of Certiorari, the unlawful arrest did not necessarily take place on August 28th. The Plaintiff was simply detained by the police officers and taken to a hospital. She was not arrested until she was taken from the hospital to the Weber County Jail, where she was booked into the jail. This was when the actual arrest took place, which was clearly on August 29th.

What is interesting however, is that even if Defendants' allegations are true, that the actual "arrest" took place on August 28th, it clearly continued to August 29th as other requirements were necessary to complete the arrest, to-wit:

handcuffing, transporting to the jail and booking into the jail, all of which took place on the 29th. Therefore, under either theory, a direct action or a continuous tort, August 29, 1983, would have been within the statute of limitations period.

With respect to the malicious prosecution claim, Defendants claim has been that because Plaintiff eventually plead to one misdemeanor count, that this defeats any malicious prosecution claim. Of course, they have never cited any legal basis for this argument, because in fact, there is none. The malicious prosecution stems from the fact that charges were filed at all in the light of the actual conduct that took place.

The fact that Plaintiff was forced to obtain an attorney and fight the case and then resolve it is simply part of the malicious prosecution allegation. Her plea also did not involve an agreement not to sue or a factual agreement that the officers had probable cause to bring any action whatsoever and this was clearly delineated at the time the plea was taken.

Therefore, the Trial Court simply for some unknown reason, determined that this Plaintiff would not be allowed an opportunity to factually present her case and obtain a remedy. That is the real tragedy of the District Court's decision that was further exacerbated by the decision of the Appellate Court. The majority of the Appellate Court, in a one line affirmance, simply indicated that the Notice of Claim was not timely filed, without addressing the two (2) principal issues that were raised.

Judge Newey however, in his dissent, specifically focuses

on the issue of the amendment of pleadings and found that such an amendment should have been allowed and the case should have proceeded to Trial.

This Court, in granting the Petition for Certiorari, at least found the threshold argument that this decision has departed from common practice in the District Courts below to liberally allow amendments to pleadings.

This Court therefore, is specifically requested to review the entire record on this case in accordance with the issues that were raised in both the Trial Court and the Appellate Court and to adopt the dissenting view of Judge Newey, which this Plaintiff believes is the correct view of the law in this case and allow Plaintiff to have her day in Court.


CONCLUSION

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