1989

Virginia Yearsley v. OFFICER DEAN JENSEN,  
WASHINGTON TERRACE POLICE  
DEPARTMENT, OFFICER WALLERSTEIN,  
SOUTH OGDEN POLICE DEPARTMENT,  
OFFICER STEVE SMITH, RIVERDALE  
POLICE DEPARTMENT, WASHINGTON  
TERRACE CITY, SOUTH OGDEN CITY, AND  
RIVERDALE CITY : Brief of Respondent

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Summary judgment was properly issued on plaintiff's assault and battery and trespass claims because these claims are not continuing torts, they arose on August 28, 1983 and, therefore, were barred because plaintiff failed to file a timely notice of claim.

Plaintiff's request to amend to allege wrongful arrest was properly denied for two reasons. First, she was arrested on August 28, 1983, and her claim was barred because she did not file a timely notice of claim. Second, she could not state a claim for wrongful arrest because she had pled guilty to one of the charges arising from the arrest and, thus, could not show that the arrest was without probable cause.

For two reasons, the trial court properly denied plaintiff's motion to amend to allege malicious prosecution. First, she had plead guilty to one of the charges for which she was prosecuted. Thus, she could not show that the prosecution resulted in her favor and could not state a claim for malicious prosecution. Second, her claim was barred because she failed to file any notice of claim for malicious prosecution under U.C.A. § 63-30-13 (1953 as amended).

POINT I

PLAINTIFF'S ASSAULT AND BATTERY AND TRESPASS  
CLAIMS WERE PROPERLY DISMISSED BECAUSE SHE  
FAILED TO FILE A TIMELY NOTICE OF CLAIM.

**A. All Plaintiff's Causes of Action Arose a Year and a Day Before She Filed a Notice of Claim.**

This is a simple case of failure to file a timely notice of claim pursuant to the Governmental Immunity Act. Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-1, et seq. (1953 as amended). To state a claim against a governmental entity or its employee, the plaintiff must strictly comply with the Governmental Immunity Act. Cornwall v. Larsen, 571 P.2d 925 (Utah 1977). If the plaintiff does not, the claim is barred. Madsen v. Borthick, 658 P.2d 672 (Utah 1983). This court has consistently held that the right to recover damages against a governmental entity is statutory, and "can be availed of when there has been compliance with the conditions upon which the right is conferred." Id. at 926 (quoting Hamilton v. Salt Lake City, 99 Utah 362, 106 P.2d 1028, 1030 (1940)). "[F]ull compliance with [the Act's] requirements is a condition precedent to the right to maintain a suit." Cornwall, 571 P.2d at 926 (quoting Granite School District, 531 P.2d 480, 482 (Utah 1975)). Thus, plaintiff has no right to sue a governmental entity where she has not fully complied with the Act.

The Act provides that a notice of claim shall be filed "within one year after the claim arises." U.C.A. § 63-30-13 (1953 as amended). If it is not, the claim is barred. Id.

Section 63-30-11 provides that "[a] claim arises when the statute of limitations that would apply if the claim were against a private person begins to run." U.C.A. § 63-30-11(c) (1953, as amended).

The plaintiff's assault, battery, and trespass claims all arose on August 28, 1983. The plaintiff's cause of action for assault arose when one of the officers attempted to unlawfully use force or to inflict bodily harm on the plaintiff, causing the plaintiff to become apprehensive. Coleman v. Employment Security Dept., 25 Wash. App. 405, 607 P.2d 1231 (Wash. App. Div. I 1980).

Her cause of action for battery arose when an officer first touched her. Cassidy v. Findlay, 568 P.2d 142 (Mont. 1977) (assault and battery arises when injury inflicted); Restatement of Torts (Second) § 13. It is undisputed that she was threatened and touched at her home on the evening of August 28, 1983. (Appendix "B", Findings of Fact, ¶¶ 1,2.) (Appellant's Brief, p. 9).

Here, Mrs. Yearsley does not allege that she was assaulted on the 29th, but only on the 28th. It is undisputed that she fought with the police only on the 28th. Her assault and battery action arose then. She did not file her notice of claim until a year and a day after her cause of action arose. Thus, her claim is barred. U.C.A., § 63-30-13 (1953 as amended).

For the same reason her trespass action is also barred because it also arose on August 28, 1983, when the defendant officers stepped onto the plaintiff's property. Restatement of Torts (Second) § 158. W. Prosser and W. Keaton, Law of Torts, § 13, p. 83, n.55 (5th Ed. 1984). The appellant apparently concedes that this claim is barred because she does not raise it on her appeal.

B. Trespass, Assault and Battery and Wrongful Arrest Are Not Continuing Torts.

To avoid dismissal due to her failure to file a timely notice of claim, she alleges that assault and battery, trespass, and the wrongful arrest claim she wants to make, are continuing torts. She argues that in her instance these torts continued into the early morning hours of August 29, 1983, so she can treat that day as the day her causes of action arose for purposes of the one year deadline for filing her notice of claim.

Her novel continuing tort theory has no basis in fact or law. Her cited authority does not even concern assault or battery or unlawful arrest or trespass, but rather involve nuisances and breaches of easements. Shors v. Branch, 221 Mont. 390, 720 P.2d 239 (1986); Baker v. Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport, 39 Cal. 3d 862, 218 Cal. Rptr. 293, 705 P.2d 866 (1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1017 (1986). According to plaintiff's authority, "[c]ontinuing torts [are] those torts in which the

tortious act can be readily abated." Shors, 720 P.2d at 243 (citations omitted). In Shors the court held that the defendant's acts of fencing off a road over which plaintiff had an easement was a continuing tort because it was an act that could have been abated at any time. Similarly, in Baker, the court explained that, "[t]he classic example of a continuing nuisance is an ongoing or repeated disturbance, such as the one before us that is caused by noise, vibration, or foul odor." Baker, 705 P.2d at 870.

Neither case involves a cause of action like plaintiff's that arose from a single fight and a single arrest. The damage from the arrest and fight might have continued, but the torts themselves did not. She was not the victim of "ongoing or repeated disturbance" because she was not repeatedly arrested or repeatedly assaulted. Baker, 705 P.2d at 870. Her arrest and assault began and ended within a few minutes on August 28th, 1983. Assault, battery, trespass and false arrest are simply not continuing torts. Plaintiff has cited no authority that they are, and none exists. The trial court properly considered the totality of the circumstances in granting summary judgment.

Assuming for the sake of argument that these are continuing torts, her notice of claim was still untimely. The Act provides that a plaintiff must file a notice of claim within a year of when a claim arises, and, "[a] claim arises when the statute of

limitations that would apply if the claim were against a private person begins to run." U.C.A. §§ 63-30-11, 13 (1953, as amended). Thus, even if the torts were continuing, a claim for them arose when the torts began, not later as they continued. U.C.A. § 63-30-11 (1953 as amended). She was required to file a notice within a year of when they arose, but she did not. U.C.A. § 63-30-13 (1953 as amended). Accordingly, the trial court and the court of appeals were correct when they held that the plaintiff's assault and battery, trespass and arrest claims were barred because the plaintiff failed to file a timely notice of claim.

#### POINT II

UNDER U.R.C.P., RULE 15(A), THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO AMEND TO ALLEGE UNLAWFUL ARREST AND MALICIOUS PROSECUTION CLAIMS.

Plaintiff correctly points out that generally leave to amend is liberally allowed in the interest of justice. Chadwick v. Nielsen, 763 P.2d 817 (Utah App. 1988). She charges that the trial court abused its discretion by refusing her leave to amend to allege malicious prosecution and wrongful arrest. Plaintiff, however, fails to recognize that the court was not deciding whether a new recognizable claim ought to be tried in light of time restraints or fairness to the opposition. That was not the kind of issue before the court. Rather, it properly tested the

merits of the plaintiff's proposed claims and held that they were not recognizable because she could not state a claim for malicious prosecution or wrongful arrest, and denied her motion because the amendments would be futile.

Courts commonly refuse requests to amend "where the proposed amendment fails to allege facts which would support a valid theory of liability or where the party moving to amend has not shown that the proposed amendment has substantial merit."

Verhein v. South Bend Lathe, Inc., 598 F.2d 1061, 1063 (7th Cir. 1979) (per curiam). Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 9 L.Ed. 2d 222, 83 S.Ct. 227 (1962).<sup>1</sup> Courts are encouraged to determine whether proposed amendments state a claim. Otherwise, the amendment would be allowed, and the defendant would be forced to file a Rule 12(b)(6) motion on the basis that the amended complaint failed to state a claim. There is no need for this

---

<sup>1</sup>As the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure are fashioned after the federal rules, Utah courts may properly rely on federal rules authorities. Pate v. Marathon Steel Corp., 692 P.2d 765 n.1 (Utah 1984); Heritage Bank & Trust v. Landon, 770 P.2d 1009, 1010 n.2 (Utah App. 1989).

In each of the following cases the appellate court affirmed the trial court's denial of a motion to amend where it would be futile to permit the amendment because the proposed cause of action failed to state a claim. Marks v. Centran Corp., 747 F.2d 1536 (6th Cir. 1984) cert. denied 471 U.S. 1125; Emory v. Texas State Board of Medical Examiners, 748 F.2d 1023 (5th Cir. 1984); Martin v. Associated Truck Lines, 801 F.2d 246 (6th Cir. 1986); Federal Insurance Company v. Gates Lear Jet Corp., 823 F.2d 383 (10th Cir. 1987); California Architectural Building Products v. Franciscan Ceramics, Inc., 818 F.2d 1466 (9th Cir. 1987).

duplicitous and wasteful procedure. Consequently, courts, upon motion, simply review the amendment under Rule 12(b)(6) at the Rule 15(a) stage. This practice is also consistent with Rule 1 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure that requires the Rules be interpreted and applied "to secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action." U.R.C.P. Rule 1(a). Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 9 L.Ed. 2d, 222, 83 S.Ct. 227 (1962).

Here the trial court followed the admonition of Rule 1 and the practice of the cited courts when it tested plaintiff's proposed amended complaint against the standards of U.R.C.P. Rule 12(b)(6). See Lowe v. Sorenson Research Co., Inc., 779 P.2d 668 (Utah 1989). The court determined that any complaint by the plaintiff for unlawful arrest or malicious prosecution could not state a claim upon which relief could be granted, and consequently properly denied the plaintiff's Rule 15(a) motion.

A. Plaintiff Could Not State a Claim for Wrongful Arrest.

Two reasons support the court's denial of the plaintiff's motion to amend to allege a wrongful arrest: Failure to file a timely notice of claim, and failure to show lack of probable

cause for the arrest because she had pled guilty and been convicted of one of the charges arising from the arrest<sup>2</sup>.

The court concluded on the undisputed facts that the plaintiff was arrested on August 28, 1983 and that her August 29, 1984 notice of claim was untimely under U.C.A. § 63-30-13 (1953 as amended). It is undisputed that before midnight on the 28th the plaintiff was handcuffed, and taken into custody and placed in a police car. At that point she was arrested. (See ¶ 1 of the Findings of Fact, Appendix B.) Tolman v. K-Mart Enterprises of Utah, 569 P.2d 1127 (Utah 1977)<sup>3</sup>.

Utah law holds that the tort of false arrest arises the instant there is "wrongful imposition of control over [one's] freedom of movement." Tolman, 569 P.2d at 1128. In Tolman plaintiff was arrested for shoplifting. He sued for false imprisonment and argued that his cause of action did not arise when he was taken into custody, but instead when he was acquitted of the charges. The court disagreed:

---

<sup>2</sup>This court may affirm the trial court's decision on any proper ground despite the trial court's having assigned another reason for its decision. Buehner Block Co. v. UWC Associates, 752 P.2d 892, 895 (Utah 1988).

<sup>3</sup>A person is under arrest when he is deprived of his liberty by an officer who intends to arrest him. State v. Solis, 8 Wash. App. 484, 685 P.2d 672 (1984). According to the Restatement of Torts (Second) § 112, "[a]n arrest is the taking of another into custody for the actual purported purpose of bringing the other before a court, or of otherwise securing the administration of the law."

[the] general rule is that a statute limiting the time in which an action may be brought begins to run when cause of action arises. In this instance, that was the time of the claimed false imprisonment, which occurred as it is recited above on November 16, 1974."

560 P.2d at 1128.

Thus, under Tolman, plaintiff's cause of action for false arrest arose on August 28, 1983 she was handcuffed; it was then that she was denied her freedom of movement. State v. Solis, supra. As recited above, she failed to file her notice of claim until August 29, 1984, one day after the end of the one-year limitation period. Since her false arrest claim failed as a matter of law, she was properly denied leave to amend under Rule 15(a).

Her false arrest action also failed because she could not meet the element of the claim that the arrest be without probable cause. Rabalais v. Blanche, 524 So. 2d 772 (La. App. 3d Cir. 1988). If the plaintiff claiming false arrest was convicted of one of the offenses for which she was arrested, then as a matter of law there was probable cause to affect the arrest. Id. In Rabalais v. Blanche, the plaintiff brought an action against its employer for malicious prosecution and false arrest. The plaintiff had pled guilty to misdemeanor theft. The court granted summary judgment on the false arrest claim holding that "clearly, there was probable cause to detain and question

appellant in light of the fact that a guilty plea was entered in this case." 524 So. 2d at 773.

Here it is undisputed that the plaintiff pled guilty to and was convicted of disorderly conduct. (Appendix "B" Findings of Fact ¶ 6). As a matter of law, therefore, she could not prove that she was arrested without probable cause. Her claim fails. The court properly concluded that "the plaintiff could not recover under the facts alleged." Lowe v. Sorenson Research Co., 779 P.2d 668, 668 (Utah 1989).

B. Plaintiff Could Not State a Claim for Malicious Prosecution.

The tort of malicious prosecution has four elements: "(1) A criminal proceeding instituted or continued by the defendant against the plaintiff; (2) termination of the proceeding in favor of the accused; (3) absence of probable cause for the proceeding; [and] (4) 'malice', or a primary purpose other than that of bringing an offender to justice." Amica Mutual Insurance Company v. Schettler, 768 P.2d 950, 959 (Utah App. 1989) (citing Callioux v. Progressive Insurance Company, 745 P.2d 838, 843 (Utah App. 1987) (citing W. Prosser and W. Keaton, Law of Torts, § 119 (5th Ed. 1984))). "The failure to establish any one of the four elements is fatal to the cause of action." Id.

A guilty plea to one of the charges brought against a plaintiff in a malicious prosecution case prevents the plaintiff from proving that the proceeding terminated in favor of the

accused. Killian v. Fuller, 162 Mich. App. 210, 412 N.W.2d 698 (1987); Heilgeist v. Chasser, 98 Wis. 2d 97, 295 N.W.2d 26 (Wis. App. 1980); Rabalais v. Blanche, 524 So. 2d 772 (La. App. 3d Cir. 1988). In each of these cases, the accused pled guilty or was convicted of one of the charges for which she was prosecuted. Each court held that the plaintiff's malicious prosecution claim failed as a matter of law.

The same rule and result apply here. It is undisputed that the plaintiff pled guilty to and was convicted of disorderly conduct arising out of the incident on August 28, 1983. Consequently her claim was barred. The court had no choice but to deny her Rule 15(a) motion to amend her complaint to allege malicious prosecution.

In addition, the plaintiff's failed to file a notice of claim of her malicious prosecution claim. Her notice of claim against the policemen and their cities was for injuries occurring when the defendants "physically beat the claimant in the course of an arrest of a third party." It mentions nothing about a claim for malicious prosecution. Therefore, the notice violated U.C.A. § 63-30-11 that requires a notice of claim to "set forth . . . the nature of the claim asserted." U.C.A. 63-30-11 (1953 as amended). Plaintiff's notice mentions nothing about malicious prosecution, but only speaks of a beating. Thus, even if she could have stated a claim for malicious prosecution, her claim is

nevertheless barred for failure to file a notice of claim pursuant to U.C.A. 63-30-11 (1953, as amended). Cornwall v. Larsen, supra. The court's refusal to allow her to amend to state what would have been a futile malicious prosecution claim was therefore proper under U.R.C.P. Rule 15(a). Foman v. Davis, supra.

#### CONCLUSION

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